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later ferries and the end of the harbour ferry
By the time Wearmouth bridge was built in 1795-6 two other ferries ran on the section of the river between Sunderland and Hylton.
 The exact dates at which these were established is uncertain. That from Southwick to Deptford was in operation by 1750, when Thomasine Robinson’s purchase of the Ayres Quay estate included land on which the glass factory stood, the whole of the wastes between high and low water mark from Pallion Quay to Rector’s Glebe, three keel berths, and a half share of the Southwick ferry. The ferry seems then to have been well-established, let for nine years at £10 with the tenant responsible for repairs and for payments towards a replacement boat when needed.
 By 1770 the annual rent had risen to £30 with an additional £1 charged for use of a boat house.
 This service, which carried horses and conveyances, continued until the 20th century, latterly on two routes, the High Southwick ferry running below the Queen Alexandra bridge, and the Low from Southwick pottery to Deptford.
 

The Panns ferry, despite claims by its owners of ‘ancient’ status, may have been the shortest lived of all.
 It ran between Beamish drop on the north and the later Fenwick’s glass house, formerly Molly Linton’s quay, on the south.
 Panns Ferry road, leading to the water’s edge from Panns bank a short distance downstream of the bridge, survived as a reminder long after the boat itself had disappeared.
 This ferry carried horses and cattle, though it was not supposed to,
 and the various boats used were too small to take more than one or two quiet horses. Passengers ‘were afraid of going in the boat when the horse was unruly’.
 Local residents lobbying for a bridge in 1791 did not see it as a total substitute for the ferries. Safety problems could, it was argued, be remedied if a bridge took the heavier traffic. ‘When the ferry boats are more properly adapted for the purpose and not incommoded with horses, carriages &c, less inconveniences & risk will attend crossing the river.’
 This turned out to be an accurate assessment, for a century later four ferries still operated in the town itself – from Deptford dock to Southwick, from Wylam wharf on the ancient route, from Ettrick’s quay and from Commissioners’ quay to the undeveloped shore of Monkwearmouth – as well as that at Hylton.
 The Panns ferry, though, after enjoying a brief surge of popularity carrying workmen and horses during the building of the Wearmouth bridge, was too close to it to compete after 1796.

The Wearmouth Bridge Act of 1792 specified that fair compensation should be paid to ferry owners ‘injured by its erection’. The bridge trustees purchased the ancient Sunderland ferry from the bishop of Durham, who received £1,800, while the lessee William Ettrick was awarded £4,500 for his loss.
 Settling with the joint owners of the Panns ferry, or Pan boat, Sir Hedworth Williamson, who held rights on the north bank, and General Lambton, lessee from the bishop of rights on the south, was not so straightforward. Various witnesses spoke conflictingly about the Pan boat’s role as a horse ferry.
 The case went to arbitration by Messrs Wharton and Errington, with Arthur Mowbray acting as umpire, hearing as witness only the lessee of the boat, Alice Thompson, a niece of William Cook.
 She claimed to have received £201 19s 3d in tolls during the year to May 1796, including annual sums from a few frequent users who paid the equivalent of 6d weekly. Thompson estimated the costs at 14s a week for the boatman’s wages, £13 annually for taxes, and something over £5 a year to maintain and save to replace the boat. This produced an annual profit of about £144. The arbitrators deducted a fifth of the total receipts, income which came from illicitly carrying horses, but even so, taking account of the rising value and projected profits for 32 years, presumably the time left on the lease, the sum they reached was £7,395. The trustees declared this amount ‘enormous’ and had the award set aside on a technicality. The case came before the Quarter Sessions in 1799, when Alice Thompson was unable to substantiate her figures – it emerged that passenger receipts were actually about £133 - so the jury worked out a figure based on the boat’s annual rent of £80, arriving at a total of £1,600 in compensation. Sir Hedworth and the Lambtons were furious and demanded that the verdict be set aside, but this proved impossible and they were obliged to settle.

Thereafter the remaining harbour ferries were run by the bridge trustees, and were listed as assets during various attempts to re-finance the bridge from about 1809.
 They continued well-used, with the tolls let for £610 in 1826.
 In the 50 years following the bridge’s opening in 1796, harbour ferry tolls raised a total of £30,743, compared with receipts from the bridge of £116,301.
 By the time pedestrian tolls were abolished on the bridge, a paddle steamer ferry had come into operation, in 1843.
 The first such boat was the Mab, supposedly standing for Mayor, Aldermen and Burgesses.
 A ferry toll office, a 17th-c. house in Low Street which the bridge commissioners had bought in 1841, was still in use in 1867,
 when improvements to approaches to the Bodlewell Lane and North Quay landings were planned.
 By then the harbour ferries were vested in Sunderland corporation.
 The upgrading of these harbour ferries during the 19th century reflects the convenience of the service and vitality of the river. By the 1950s, though, usage had declined, and a further fall was expected as houses around the harbour were cleared. Income had fallen to £600 a year, a tenth of the running costs. The ferry service was closed under the Sunderland Corporation Act of 1957, and the W.F.Vint, in service since 1926, made its final four-minute journey across the river in July 1957, the mayor ringing the ferry’s bell a final time.
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